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ROSLYN ARCHITECTURAL HISTORY

Roslyn is of architectural inlerest due to the very high survival rate of
homes dating from mid-19th century and earlier. Apparently the earliest publ-
ished record identifying locations and owners is the Walling Map of 1859,
which probably was surveyed a year or two earlier. A large percentage of the
houses and commercial buildings found on this map still stand,

Historic research concerning individusl houses has been quite sketchy.
However, quite a lot has been learned about individual consitruction details.
The twenty-five houses exhibited on Landmark Society Tours since 1961 have
been examined car~fully and much useful architectural information has been
gained,. Some of this study has been under the direction of well-qualified
historical architects as Daniel M,GC, Hopping and Gerald R.W. Watland. In add-
ition, much can be conjectured by evaluating architectural concepts, consir-
uction tecnnigues, and decorative details of the houses already studied and
applying these eriteria to examination of other houses, Careful historic in-
vestigations of one house, as the study into the origins of the Joseph
Starkins house by Rosalie Fellowes Bailey, have revealed data concerning the
histories of other houses. Careful review of the early newspapers, i.e.,The
Roslyn Plain-Dealer, published 1851-1852, and The Roslyn Tablet, 1876-1877,
have provided much detailed information concerning individual local buildings.
In addition, a letter written to Mrs. Eliza leggett in 1851 by Bishop Benjamin
Treadwell Ondsrdonk, describing his boyhood in Roslyn during the late 18th and
early 19th centuries, has been most wseful in identifying structures standing
at that time. In a similar manner, a letter written by Francis Skillman to
The Roslyn News describes the history of many houses standing in Roslyn during
the period 1830-1896.

Only a few of the early Roslyn Houses were actually designed by individual
architects. Nevertheless, each house had an architectural concept which deter-
mined its appearance and function. This concept was frequently sirongly ine
fluenced by the various published architectural works of the period, as
Benjanin, Ranlett, Downing and Vaux, and, in other cases, was simply the re-
sult of a discussion between the ouner and the carpenter. One carpenter,
Thomas Wood, is known. He probably was Roslyn's principal carpenter during
1825-1875. An article in the Roslyn News for September 20, 1878,describing
life in Roglyn fifty years sarlier, states "Probably no builder erected as
many of the existing dwelling houses, barns, etc., in this town as Mr. Wood."
Thonas Wood is indicated on the Walling Map as the then owner of the Wilson
Williams House on iain Street. In all probability he built the later (circa
1825) half of it, as well as several other local houses which seem to be re-
lated to it. Architectural concepis of Roslyn houses are usually quite re-
actionary as might be expected in a small country village. In general the
more ambitious the house at the time of building, the more likely it was to
have been built in a contemporary siyle. Less imporiant houses, where owners
were more likely to be interested in shelter than flourishes, frequentily
reflected the designs of earlier periods.

Congtruction techniques are another important device in the dating of
homes. Workmen trained in a country village were likely to use techniques of
their apprenticeships. In sufficiently isolated communities, a workman might
continue in techniques of the early working years of the elderly man who
taught him. Reactionary techniques in one trade may appear side by side with
relatively modern techniques in others depending on the training of the man



who did the work. In situations of this sort, the date of the house cannot be
earlier than the introduction of the latest construction tecnnique used, pro-
vided it may be accepted that the work is a part of the original structure.
In general, framing of Roslyn homes conforms to contemporary atandards. How-
ever, the plastering ftechniques of clamshells and horsehair continued into
late 1800%'s even though these:techniques had been discontinued in cities like
Boston by 1750, Masonry alsv was likely to be reactionary. The brickwork in
at least one house built in the second quariter of the 19th century was laid
in Flemish bond, a siyle which had largely disappeared elsewhere at least a
century earlier. It is worthy of comment that prior to about 1860, foundations
of Roslyn houses were built of large stones, arranged in guch a manner that
the exposed inside surfaces of the cellar were smooth, while the outer sur-
faces were covered by earih below grade, were irregular, and thereby bonded
together by the earth back-fill, After about 1835 the exposed parts of found-
ations, i.e., from grade to sill, were brick. From about 1860, the entire
foundstion walls were brick. The latter practice continued until about 1900.

Decorative details, as hardware, stair railings, mouldings, etc are also
of great value in establishing the age of a house. In Roslyn the concept and
construction details, and even the hardware, may anledate mouldings by many
years. In such a case, the date of the house cannot be earlier than the date
of earliest appearance of the specifiec moulding style, provided that the
mouldings may be accepted as original work, and not later alteration. Wooden
decorative detail in Roslyn houses usually shows conformity to contemporary
styles, probably because having two lumber yards in the Village made it more
convenient for carpenters %o buy many mouldings ready-made. For the same
rsason, mantles and doorframes were usually in style and executed with con-
temporary detail, On the other hand, metal hardware frequently was retarded
in style, as resulit of availability of out-of-date stock or re-use of earlier
materials., "H" and "H-L" hinges and oval keyholes were used long after their
use had been discontinued in metropolitan centers, Prior to about 1825 locks
were imported from England. After that date they were of local manufacture,
some of them by A. Searing of Jamaica. Willowmere, a mid-18th century house,
has locks installed circa 1840 made by Mackrell & Richardson of New York, and
at least one more survives in the Wilson Williams house.

The foregoing is only the briefiest of resumes. Additional information
will be given, when feasible, in descriptions of individual houses. In all
cagses, estimates of consitruction dates have been evaluated on the basis of
architectural characteristics as described above. In some instances an indiv-
idual house may have been built earlier than the attributed date, but alter-
ations have given it the characteristics of a later pericd.

In conclusion, it should be mentioned that homes on exhibit have been
selected to demonstrate the continuing story of Roslyn architecture, and to
indicate various interesting inconsistencies of architectural concept, con-
struction methods and decorative detall. Many more equally interesting homes
remain - it is hoped they will be exhibited on future tours.
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Samuel Dugan II home as it
appeared in 1888.




The Samuel Dugan II House
157 East Broadway
Ragidence of Mr. & Mrs. Chsarles W. Isalin

Samuel Dugan II was born in Belfast, North Ireland, in 1850, Fe was
brought to Roslyn when he was 1} years old and spent his early years in his
fatherts house at 148 Main Street. This house, the Samuel Dugan I house, was
exhibited on the Landmark Society'!s tours in 1966 and 1967. Young Samuel
Dugan II was trained as a carpenter and achieved some degree of stature in
his trade, numbering many prominent local people among his clients, in-
cluding the Bryant family and Admiral Aaron Ward. In his mid-twenties he
married Cornelia Bond, who had been born in 1857 in a small house on East
Broadway, which now forms a part of #224. After his marriage lMr. Dugan built
a small house on Roslyn Road, near the Roslyn High School. He gold this house,
which still stands, to a man named Hickson on March 31st, 1888, and on April
2nd of that year, purchased the house which is to be the subject of this
article from Abraham Losee, who lived in the house which is now 117 Rast
Broadway, Squire lLoses was an extensive landowner in Roslyn and owned con-
siderable property along the east side of East Broadway.

Since Sgmuel Dugen IT was a carpenter, it is not remarkable to find he
made a number of changes in the house, His alterations, however, differ con-
slderably from those affecting other local houses as, In most other cases,the
alterations consisted of simple enlargement, usually with an effort toward
exterior unity, but without alteration to the original interior. The Wilson
Williams house, William M. Valentine house and Myers Valentine house are all
examples of this {ype of alteration, Samuel Dugan II, on the other hand,
seemed to wish to remove every trace of the early years from his residence.
He altered it three times within a period of fifteen yesars and, by the end of
his efforis, it had become almost impossible to recognize the age of the
original house. The present owners, as the result of their willingness to re-
move later structural elements, have thrown much light on the original arch-
itecture of the house and, as their restoration proceeds, additional early
characteristics will be exposed.,

Careful records remain of the threes alterations as photographs were taken
of each step upon its completion. In addition, Mr. Dugan's detailed diaries,
covering a period of over 40 years, survive in the custody of his youngest
son Roderick, who has been most helpful in researching these records and
providing information for this account.

The original house is shown on the Walling Map as belonging to J. loses,
presumably the father of Abraham Loses. The original house was a small clap-
boarded cottage, three bays in width. Its entrance was located in the center
of its East Broadway facade and its gable ends at right angles to the street.
It was built upon a rubble foundation, to the sills, which included a small
root cellar, in the manner of the second quarter of the 19th century. The
second storey was a mere loft with three small Meyebrow" windows on the
street facade (and probably on the rear facade as well).

The firgt photograph, gated" July 23rd, 1839, at about 11:00 A.M." on its
reverse, shows Mr, and Mrs. Samue]l Dugan II and their two oldest boys,Rudolph
and Arthur, standing in front of the house. By this date the "eyebrow" win-
dows had been replaced with dormer windows, each surmounted by an elaborate
Jjigsawed finial, of which none survive. Howeve: , the bay window, added at the



north end of the house still stands, as does the carpentry shop, which may be
seen in its early single-storied form at the right of the picture. The early
6~over-6 window sash had been removed and replaced by the then stylish 2-over-
2 type..The original sash were used in the construction of the carpentry shop.
They still survive. The heavily moulded, four-panel door may date from this
first Dugan alteration but, more probably, is merely an earlier (most likely
the original) door which had been remoulded by Mr. Dugan. The finely wrought
iron strap hinges give evidence of an early date. Obviously, all the afore-
mentioned exterior changes had been done between April 2, 1888, when Mr. Dugan
bought the house, and July 23, 1889, when the photograph was taken. The small
roofed porch, presumably, also dates from this period. Between the dormer win-
dows, in the plcture, there are still vestiges of a simple, almost primitive
Greek Revival cornice which, with the other evidence described above, suggests
the original house was buillt cireca 1845.

The second photograph is undated. However, it was made between 1889-1895,
when the Dugan family moved to their farm in Rosglyn Highlands. By the time of
the second photograph the East Broadway entiry had been closed and replaced by
a pair of tall, narrow windows. The small porch had also been removed, The
doorway, and door, had been re-located in the south gable facade, where they
still remain, and a new porch built along the entire side of the newly placed
entry.

The Dugen family returned to the East Broadway house in 1901, The third
Alteration was begun on Sepiember 11,1902 and, like the others, is well supp-
orted by photographic documeniation, In this final alferation the ell was en-
larged to include the entire rear facade of the house, and was elevated to a
height of two stories. This alferation provided space for the present dining
room and two bedrooms. To solve the problem of creating an atiractive roof-
1line to enclose the new rear addition, a large gambrel roof was erected which
covered both new and 0ld parts of the house and included the entire gable-
ended roof of the original houss. Traces of the original roof, ineluding its
shingles, may still be seen in the closets of the two ™ew"{1902)} bedrooms.
In addition, two of the rear dormer windows dating from the first Dugan alter-
ation wore enclosed under the new roof, and may still be seen from ingide the
house.

A separate, double-doored entry was consiructed for the newly created
dining rcom. This included a small porch whose roof had to be integrated inte
the roof of the bay window developed as part of the first alteration. Even
though this roof was adequately supported a large bracket of the period,
serving no purpose other than decoration, was provided. The entire house,old
and new, was then sheathed with the short-lap shingles of the period. Those
used on the bay window included chamfered butts in the then-current "Queen
Anne" style, Since tinis third Dugan alteration, the exterior of the house has
remained essentially unchanged., The house remained in the ownership of the
Dugan family until 1960,

The carpentry shop, opposite the south end of the house, merits a descri-
ption of its own. It has already been mentioned that this building had been
started by Samuel Dugan II as a part of his first alteration of 1888-1889.
The original shop was of gingle~storey construction with a shallow gable-end
roof and strongly resembled a modern garage in profile. It was finished with
vertical sheathing and incorporated the early 6-over—6 gash from the original
house. Subsequently, as a part of the second or third alteration, the shop
was enlarged to its present form. In this alteration, the roof was raised and
the gable angles deepened to provide a full second storey, sheathed with



"noveliy" siding. A gable was added on the East Broadway facade, The second
storey was extended out beyond the east wall of the original shop and rested
upon a brick retaining wall several feet outside the originsl building, On the
ground floor level, this newly roofed space was enclosed at both ends to pro-
vide a long narrow space for the interior storage of lumber, ete.

ENTRY HALL: One enters the house thru the doorway built in 1889-1895. There is
a steep, boxed-in stairway directly opposite. As in similar local early 19th
century stairways, this one is lined with horizontal sheathing on the inside
wall and vertical sheathing on itg outside wall. Originally a board-snd-batten
door, now missing, closed in the stairway at its botiom end.

EARLY PARIOR: The early parlor, to left of entry hall, is sheathed to the
chairreil with similar horizontal boarding slong its two outside walls and re-
tains its original vertical sheathing, to the ceiling, along its two inside
walls. All the sheathing consists of simple flush boarding 8 to 10 inches in
width, without decorative beads or bevels. All the sheathing dates from the
original house and could not possibly have been installed by Samuel Dugan II,
Stylistically it is not of his era and, as noted above, he was a style-consc-
ious workman, Samples of his veriical sheathing survive in the first storey
outside walls of the carpentry shop. This has not only survived in better con-
dition than the obviously older interior parlor sheathing, but is a far more
workmanlike job. All the parlor sheathing was later covered with plasfer or
wall board, upon which was superimposed a wainscoil dado. All this later work
has been removed and the parler,with its white plaster and green sheathing,
now looks much the same as at the time the house was buili. The only residual
changes are the hardwood flooring, slight revision of the hearth, and the
largs, 2-over-2 windows which extend about seven inches beneath the chair-rail.
The parlor fireplace is large, shallow, and has considerable flare to its
cheeks. In these raspects 1t is a smaller version of the early 19th century
kitchen fireplaces in the Wilson Williams and Henry Eagtman houses.

NORTH PARLOR: Leaving the early parlor, there is a narrow double window on
ones' left. This is the site of the original entry. It is possible that a
narrow, stesp, enclosed stairway was originally located opposite that entry.
Immediately beyond is the present north parlor, which probably was the orig-
inal kitchen, Not including the bay window on its north wall, this room is
precisely the same measurement of the early parlor. However, unlike the latter,
no vestige of the original room may be seen. With the exception of the fire-
place and mantle, which have been very much re~worked, the entire impression
suggests the time of Samnel Dugan' I1ts first alteration of 1888-1889, The bay
window dates from that effort, as do the ogee mouldings of the window and door
surrounds, and the 2-over-2 window sash. The walls are completely plastered
and some of this, atl least, dates from the first alteration. Future plans of
the owners include architectural investigation of the fireplace area which
dates from well in the present century.

DINING ROOM: The dining room, behind the north parlor, dates completely from
the third alteration of 1902, and stylistically conforms to the architectural
fashion of that date, even to the built-in, enclosed china cupboards. It has
been mentioned above that the dining room has always had its own enitry - at
the north end, thru double doors to a small porch. Mr. Dugan's diary points
out that this room, and the remainder of the 1902 addition, wers plastered by
George Davis, brother of James Davis who resided two doors away at what is
now 139 East Broadway.

STATRWAY: The lower part of the enclosed stairway has been described earlier.



At present there 1s sufficlient headroom. However, it 1s easy to see, if one
projects the original roof-line evideni here, that negotiation of the upper
part required a "hands-and-knees" posture. Space was created by the develop-
ment of a dormer window, at the head of the stairs, during the first alter-
ation of 1888-1889, The form of this dormer survives and provides head room
today. This construciion is one of the reasons for agsuming the sxistence of
an earlier stairway opposite the original front door. A stairway in that
location would have opened to the loft beneath the ridge, with ample headroom,
The impressively turned "black" walnut newel post, at the top of the stairway,
(an unusual feature), and the short moulded stairrail with its two turned
balusters of the game wood date from the 1888-89 alteration,

SECOND STOREY: The second storey of the original house probably was an unheated
loft, lighted by full windows in the gable ends and by "sysbrow" windows in

the front and rear facades. The original flooring still survives. In the early

part, circa 1845, the floorboards are clear Long Island yellow pine, ten inches
wide. The more recent flooring, dating from the 1902 alteration, is yellow

pine also, seven inches wide. The selection of the type of flooring as late as

1902 seems quite remarkable, and is yet another example of the problems met in

the dating of houses.

One bedroom remains in the early part of the house. However, it should be
remembered that only flooring and the board and batien door date from the
original house., Everything else, as the 2-over-2 dormer windows, dates from
the 1888-89 alteration. Ineidentally, in the northweat corner of this room
the pattern of the fleor boards suggests the possibility of an early stairway
in this location.

Two additional rooms survive in the early part of the house and are used
for storage and work areas. In these rooms, also, the architectural detail
dateg from the 188829 restoration, apart from the board and batten doors and
original ien-inch wide flooring.

The two other bedrooms date from the 1902 alteration. Both rooms have wall
closets In which the slope and shingles of the original roof may be seen, Cne
of the rooms has its own gambrel-shaped ceiling which, of course, conforms to
the actual roof line on only one side, This seems to represent an effort to
conform to the then current (1902) "ecottage style". The other room has been
racently re-~worked for a small glrl and includes board and batten doors of
the period of the original house and a "wall=bed" reminiscent of the Dutch
styles of a century esarlier,

So much attention has been given the architectural history of the Samuel
Dugan II house that no atiention has been given its contents, The house con-
tains a number of highly interesting early objects, almost all of which have
descended in the families of Mr. or Mrs. Iselin. In the interest of space
preservation, these merely will be itemized according to the room in which
each object is placed.

Early Parlor
"Gow-scape” painting, mid-19th C. Probably American,

Portrait of Daniel Ludwig Iselin, who spent part of his 1life in the
U.S3. Probably painted when he was president of the Bank of Basle,
Switzerland, in the 1870%'s.

Pair of lidded porcelain urns, Chinese, Famille Verte enamels, with
marks of Ktang Hsi era (1662-1722).



Egrly Parlor cont'd ‘

Oval-topped maple candlestand with turned baluster, New England

circa 1825.

Countyy Victorian side chalr, American, cirea 1850,

Mahogany Pembroke itable in the Hepplewhlite Style, having shaped

leaves and tapering legs with string inlay. Probably New England, ca.l1800.
‘Mahogany veneered "0-G" mantle clock by Seth Thomas and bearing his

paper label, Clock has brass weight—driven movement and original urn
painting on glass. Thomaston, Conn,, c¢irca 1850,

North Pasrior

Colored print, "Vue de Baltimore”, cireca 1840.

Boston rocker with stencil-decorated crest rail, cireca 1850,
Victorian spool-turned day bed, Ameriean, circa 1850,

Couniry candlestand, cherry, New England, circa 1810,

Corner, or "roundabout" chair, maple, re-painted. New England,
cirea 1710,

Schoolmagter's, or shop, desk, having dove-tailed corners,
American, circa 1840,

Dining Boom
Sheraton sideboard with mahogany wveneers, New England, ca. 1810,

Sinall cherry table with turned Sheraton legs and tiger maple
drawer fronts, New England, cireca 1830,

Group of country Queen Anne and Chippendale chairs, New England,
19%h century.

Upstairs Landing
Cherry chest of drawers in the American Empire Style, New England,
eireca 1820,

Magter Bedroom

Twin beds in the American Empire Style having finely shaped head-
boards and superb post turnings. Remarkable, if untampered with,
However, most early paired beds were. New England, cirea 1830, in
whole or part.

Mahogany chest of drawers in the Hepplewhite Siyle with finely
shaped apron and French bracket feet, New England, cirea 1800.

FROKRT DOOR MOULDING
Samuel Dugan II House



MANTLE PILASTER (DRAWING ROOM)
JOHN MOTT HOUSE

e

MANTLE PILASTER (CHAMBER)
JOHN MOTT HOUSE

TYPICAL BASEBOARD
JOHN MOTT HOUSE




The John Mottt House
60 Main Street
Residence of Mr. Ear)l Lindquist & Mr. John Vaughan

The John Mott House is shown on the Walling Map (1859) as owned by
"J,M, Mott", and on the Beers-Comstock Map (1873) as belonging to "J., Mott
Est.", suggesting that iis owner died sometime between the two dates. It is
reagonable to assume the house was built, or was a-bullding, in 1835, as a
Promissory Note dated May 1 of that year survives, acimowledging a debt of
$800.00 owed to William Dodge, Jr., by John Mott, William H.. Ranlett, in "The
Architect®™, Vol II, pub.. 1849 when coasts were a bit higher, deseribes four
houses of about the same size as the Mott House which cost between $750.00
and $975.00 to build. In addition, the Mott House was built in the late
Federal Style, but after the introduction of standard Tuscan mouldings of the
Greok Revival type. It has a number of similarities to the later half of the
Wilson Williams House which was built a little earlier, circa 1825,. In addit-
ion, the house includes a number of design features which have not been seen
in other houses exhibited in the Landmark Society Tours. The house descended
in the Mott family until 1927 when it was bought by Miss Alice C, Titus, who
was the first proprietor of the museum and dining room in the Roslyn Tea Mill.

The house has a side hall, is three bays wide and two stories high. It has
a gable~ended roof with the gable ends at right angles to the road, The south
gable field includes a semi-circular window. That at the north end inecludes
two quarter-round windows to permit the passage of the brick chimmey between.
411 other original windows are of the 6-over~6 type. It stands upon a rubble
foundation extending all the way to the sills - a characterisiic of early 19th
century local houses. However, unlike other local houses of the period, it has
a full cellar, in the 18th century manner. Most houses of the 2nd quarter of
the 19th century have only small root cellars which were less odoriferous,
prior to the drying effect of central heating. On the other hand, most of the
local houses having only small root cellars were built upon steeper hillsides
and include full "basement" floors. The ground floor of the Mottt house is all
above grade. The house presently is shingled but these project beyond the door
and window surrounds  in some places, suggesiting they have boen laid over sarly
sheathing, most probably clapboards.

When the house was bought by Miss Titus it was in poor reapir and needed
extensive renovation. Miss Titus retained Harry Smith to do the restoration:
Central heating, running water and slectricity were installed for the first
time. Most of the structural changes in the house were made at that time, and
will be identified, as far as possible, in this description. Most of the
panelled shutiers appear to be the original and uwse the narrow type of Tuscan
moulding which appeared locally during the late Federal Period. The pine-iree
cutouts in the shutter panels are a 20th century device. The present house has
& two-storey wing at its south end which, in turn, has a single storey exten-
sion to the rear, This wing stands on a concrete foundation and has no cellar,
The wing was built by Miss Titus in 1927. However, the outline of the house
shown on the Beers-Comstock Map indicates an ell at the south end of the houss.
Actually, there was a one-storey lean-to in this location which was not salva-
geable and was torn down by Miss Titus. A small mantle from this lean-to was
saved and 1s in the present dining room. A strong effort was made to conform
the 1927 wing to the original house as it includes quite similar panelled
shutters, a semi-circular window in its gable field, etc. In addition, the
cornice of the house itself shows some eleoments of the Greek Revival, although
the cornice moulding is 20th century work. Examination of the attic reveals
the original stairway and flooring. However, the walls and joists have been



sheathed and cannot be examined. The roof was'raised!" by Miss Titus and the
pitch increased in order to enlarge the attic area. Everything from the attic
stairs up was built in 1927. The bow window at the rear of the house is new
and the north porch dates from the 1927 re-furbishment.

The entrance to the house is especially worthy of comment. The small porch
with its gable-ended roof supported by paired piers dates from the 1927 work.
The doorway is entirely original and is one of the most sitriking in Roslyn.

It is late Federal in concept and uses square corner blocks resembling those
in the 19th century end of the Wilson Williams house., The periphery of the
"doorway is flanked by paired pilasters and a lintel which project slightly be-
yond the remainder of the doorway. There are paired flutes at each side of
each pilaster-facing fto continue the design of the cormer blocks. The corner-
block design is elongated in the center of the lintel. Within this framing,
esach five~paned side light and its panel beneath is flanked by a pair of
pilasters whose single flute patiern also matches that of their corner blocks.
The door itself consists of paired vertical panels surrounded by Tuscan
nouldings. The edges of the panels are rabbetted to create the impression of
raised panelling. The door is panelled on both faces, although the interior
panel faces are not rabbetted. The door hardware, i.e., the lock, keyhole
escuicheon, knobs and hinges are all original as is most of the hardware in
the house itself. The original verandah, which extended across the east facade
of the house, was removed in 1927.

ENTRANCE HALL: The interior face of the doorway is as notewortihy as the exter-
ior., On this surface, the pilasters do not mateh the corner blocks but are
construcied from the very narrow Tuscan-type mouldings of the late Federal
style. This pilaster construction is seen on all the door and window surrounds.
The window is panelled beneath, but uses a double panel composed of diagonally
placed "wainscotting™. This panel, in any event, seems to date from the Titus
restoration. The stepped baseboard is capped by the elaborate cyma moulding
which appeared in Roslyn in the 2nd quarter of the 19th century.

STAIRWAY: The stairway is extremely interesting. It is panelled beneath, in-
corporating the same early Tuscan mouldings as the doorway. The delicate
balusters are rectangilar and the rail is eireular in eross-section. The
latter is terminated by a relatively slender, heavily turned newelpost, which
somshow seems too late for the rest of the very graceful stair-rail. The
latter is painted today but probably was finished in the natural wood origin-
ally. The hall flooring is original, as is the flooring of the entire early
part of the house.

PARLOR: The parlor, unlike the entrance hall, does not incorporate corner
blocks in its door and window surrounds and is more reminiscent of the local
vernacular Greek Revival. This impression is strengthened by the use of
heavier, more typical Tuscan mouldings. In addition, the door and window
frames appear to be "stepped®, as may be noted in many local Greek Revival
houses, In the Mott house, however, the steps actually are two parallel flutes
which ereate the impression of two different plane surfaces. The baseboards
are "gtepped® as are those of the rest of the houss, and employ cyma cap—
mouldings similar to those in the hall, The doors are all of the two-panel
type and use standard Tuscan mouldings for trim. As mentioned above, the
flooring and hardware all are original.,

The parlor mantle is of the late Federal - Early Greek Revival type,
having a projecting shelf with moulded edge, supported by paired pilasters
trimmed with narrow Tuscan mouldings. The fireplace facings are black marble



which is rarely seen in Roslyn. The hearth is painted brownstone which was
untreated originally. There is an open cupboard to the left of the mantle
trimmed in the same manner as the remainder of the room. Originally it almost
certainly had a door.

The Victorian love seat, in the Rococco Revival Style, is later than the
house, but is of American origin and could easily have Deen used in this room
as the house matured. The Silas Hoadley tall~case clock, from Comnecticut, is
a bit earlier, but also could have stood in its present location. The two
portraits date from about 1840. One of them depicts an Austrian nobleman in
Army uniform,

BACK PARTOR: This room has been much altered and, as noted above, the bow
window is modern. However, the flooring and door-surrounds are all original.
The latter incorporate standard Tuscan mouldings.

DINING ROOM AND KITCHEN: These two rooms are both located in the new wing.
Both are extremely attractive and include some highly interesting pieces of
furniture. The cherry Pembroke table with a cross~stretcher, in the dining
room, is American and could easily have been found in the original house. As
mentioned before, the dining room mantle was salvaged from the original Mlean~
to? which stood on this site and was torm down in 1927,

UPSTAIRS HALL: This area is as qualitative as, and is a continuation of, the
entrance hall below. It uses the same stepped basoboards and moulded capping
and the same door and window surrounds, The panels beneath the windows are
trimmed with early narrow Tuscan moulding, The attic stairway is enclosed with
the same vertical panels as those placed beneaith the stairway in the down-
stairs entrance hall.

MASTER BEDROOM: This room is, in many respects, as elegant as the parlor be-
neath it. The door and window surrounds are done in the late Federal manner,
with corner blocks and early narrow Tuscan mouldings. Incidentally, it should
be mentioned that the small projecting-central square in gsome of the corner
blocks are missing, an observation which may be confusing on an architectural
tour. Originally all the corner blocks were treated in this manner. The
stepped baseboards are the same as those seen elsewhere in the house. The
panels beneath the windows are surrounded with the narrow Tuscan mouldings
used elsewhere in the room. The panels themselves are raised, a rare develop-
ment in Roslyn, and incorporate stepped, rabbetted edges, The mantle piece
resembles the parlor mantle but differs in detail. Its straight shelf within
its moulded edge rests on delicate Tuscan-panelled pilasters. The facings and
hearth are painted black but probably were originally untreated brownstone.
The architectural over-mantle mirror, in the Federal style, is an extremely
fine one and is complstely convineing in iis present location. It was made in
Italy about 1927 and was purchased by Miss Titus.

This room provides an excellent opportunity to compare original work with
reproduction. The small closet, installed in 1927, shows the careful effort
made to match its details to those of the remainder of the room.

The present small dressing room behind the master bedroom was originally a
bedroom. However, it has been altered considerably. The second badroom, scross
the hall, is in the new wing and dates from that period.
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Mayknoll
(Formerly Locust Knoll)
Glenwood Road, Roslyn Harbor
Resldence of Mr. & Mrs. William J. Casey

HISTORICAL BACKGROUND: In 1854 Mr, and Mrs. William Cairns of Clifton, (now
Willowmere) built an elegant house in the Jacobean Style for their daughter
Ellen Eliza (b.1826) who had married Passed Midshipman Robert Stuart, Jr.,
USN, in 1848, The latter was commissioned midshipman in 1841, progressed thru
the several commissioned grades of the era, and attained the rank of lieuten-
ant in 1855. He resigned his commission in 1857, The house burned a-building
as the result of a rooferts fire and was re-built during the following year
on its original foundation. The present house dates, then, from 1855, and a
letter survives, written in that year from ILieutenant Stuart, in "USS ReliefM,
to his wife advising her concerning the selection of floor coverings and the
placement of the garret rooms. The demesne 1z shown on the Walling Map as be-
longing to "R, Stuart". Lieutenant Stuart died in 1863 and, three years later,
his widow married Elijah Ward, uncle of Admiral Aaron Ward, UsN, of Clifton
(Willowmere). Elijah Ward was born in Sing-Sing in 1816, started in business
in New York City but then studied law and was admitted %o the bar in 1843.
Later he became Judge Advocate General of New York State and served several
intermittent terms in Congress, where he sponsored much consequential legis—
lation., He was an intimate friend of President Garfield. He died in Roslyn in
1882 and a splendid stained glass window to his memory survives in Trinity
Church. Two years after his death his widow donated the Roslyn Watering Trough,
in front of the Willet Titus House, to his memory. The Elijah Ward Post of the
G.A.R. was so named in his honor. Ellen Ward died early in 1893 and, in 1895,
her three children, all progeny of Lieutenant Stuart, donated the Ellen E. Ward
Memorial Clock Tower to the village.

Following Ellen Ward's death, Locust Knoll was acquired by Mr. & Mrs. H.H.
H ogins who built a large dock to accommodate their 100! long steam yacht. The
dock was destroyed in the 1938 hurricane, In 1919 a number of alterations were
made by Mr. & Mrs. DeWitt A, Davidson who had bought the house shortly before.
Most of the alterations to the original house appear to date from the Davidson
period of ownership. In 1923 the house was sold to Mr. & lMrs. Clarence Schwerin.
Mr. Schwerin was elected the first Mayor of Roslyn Harbor when the village was
incorporated in 1931. In 1948 the estate was purchased by Mr. & Mrs, William
J. Casey, the present owners, who changed the name to "Mayknoll®,

EXTERIOR AND GROUNDS: The general plan of the house has altered little since
it was built. The exterior is essentially Jacobean and is characterized by
symetrical, enclosed, 2% storey projecting Jacobean porches at the centers of
the east and west facades, each under its own gable-ended roof. The ridges of
the porch roofs are continuous from east to west and this common ridge actually
is the highest point of the house. The main mass of the house consists of two
paired, parallel, gable-ended blocks with their gable-ends facing north and
south, Within this periphery, the house consists of two storeys, a bagement,
and a garret. In spite of its size, the house is only three bays wide at the
second floor level of each of its four facades,

The main floor varies somewhat and includes five bays on its east facade,
with three bays on its west facade. The five-bayed east front may represent an
afterthought following the 1854 fire as the foundation beneath includes only
ohe cellar window opening beneath, centered between each pair of two first



floor windows. The north and south facades each include two large bay wind-
ows having chamfered sides which are identical in configuration although not
in size. All four bay windows survive although the southeast is now sub-
merged within the kitchen addition of 1919. The over-hanging slate-tiled
roof appears to be the original. There are paired chimneys, partially re-
built, which project thru the ridge of the east gable-ended block just to
the north and south of the Jacobean porch roof.

The remainder of the exterior is most simply described by comparing its
present appearance with that in a photograph, dated 1919, taken while certain
exterior alterations were in progress. It appears likely that the 1919 exter-
ior, as shown, is the original. The original house was clapboarded except for
the two Jacobean porches which were sither stuccoed or built of flush-boarding.
The corners of the Jacobean porches were originally quoined. The present house
is completely surfaced with stucco and the porch quoining has been removed.In
addition, the gable half-storeys of the Jacobean porches everhang today, a
feature not present in the original house. The applied timbered strumetural
elements in the present porch overhangs are purely decorative and probably
datg: from the 1919 renovation. The eaves were bracketed in the 1919 picture.
The shaped brackets with their turned drops have been removed although the
marks of the locations are still discernible, The ground floor window openings
were agll terminated by flat Tudor arches, as they are today. The second storey.
and gable-field window openings were capped by the original, projecting Gethic
drip-boards in the 1919 picture. These have all been removed, although the
original second storey four-over-four window sash has survived, as have all
the first floor windows.

The house in 1919 included a porte-cochere on its east facade, as it does
today. However, it gppears likely this structure was not part of the original
houge as its celling "wainscotting® is of the late 19th c. type and is sub-
stantially narrower than the present ceiling boards.. The attachment of the
porte-~cochere to the east facade is awkwardly developed in comparison with the
high level of esthetic competence of the remainder of the design and it is un-
likely it represents a part of the original plan. Originally the verandahs
emerged from the french windows at the north and south walls of the Jacobean
porches and extended across the east and west faces of the house. Fach veran-
dah quadrant then turned its respective corner and ended in a french window
in one of the bay window chamfers, Since the porch width was greater than the
bay window depth a harmonious relationship was established by the use of
curved quadrants to reduce the verandah dimension. The verandah entgblature,
consisting of a pediment, decorative rafter ends and eaves, originally con~
tinued acrosg the bay windows and filled the intervening space to form an
undulating horizontal projecting course in the Italianate manner. The 1919
picture shows that the entire west verandah had been removed and was in the
process of replacement by the large enclosed porch which survives today.
Actually the west verandahs originally were two storeys in height as the slope
of the terrain permitted a basement level. Part of the original lower level
survives, i.e. the stone-capped rail and brick floors carefully laid in a
herringbone pattern, and may be seen in the area beneath the 1919 enclosed
porch.

The extension of the verandah entablature survived on the northeast bay
window, in the 1919 picture, but had been removed from the northwest bay win-
dow and the space between the two windows. Today, this entablature has sur-
vived only on the east verandah and on the later porte-cochere, although all
the decorative rafter ends have been removed. Their original locations may be
seen along the east verandah pediments. The 1919 photograph shows decorative



bracing in the shape of flat Tudor arches between the verandah columns as well
ag verandah railings worked into a diamond-shaped patitern which butt into the
plinths upon which the porch columns were placed. The Tudor arch bracing, the
railings, and the original verandah columns all have disappeared. The verandah
plinth and column systems, in 1919, rested upon brick footings. The latter have
been replaced by brick foundatien walls to create coal cellars beneath the
present east verandahs. The foundation of the house itself is rough rubble be-
low grade, surmounted by dressed stone with ornamental brick window quoins be~
tween grade and the sills. The Aalund house on Railroad Avenue and St. Mary's
Catholic Church have gimilar foundation construction details. The only other
subgtantial exterior alteration also dates from the 1919 renovation. This is a
one-~-storey wing, with appendages, added to the south front to serve as a kite-~
hen. This addition conceals the southeast bay window.

The grounds of Mayknoll slope down from Glenwood Road to Hempstead Harbor
and provide a romantic and picturesque setting. The painted wooden fence is
formed of baluster shaped, pilerced pickets of unusual configuration and is
probably contemporary with the house. The ogee-arched rustic grape arbor to the
north stylistically dates from mid-19th century and consists of some early ele-
ments which have been relocated from other parts of the grounds, There are
several small cottages on the grounds. The largest, immediately to the west of
the house, was remodeled by the present owners from the early, two-level
carriage house which had previously been converted into a garage. The altera-
tions have been so extensive that an estimate of iis construction date cannot
feagibly be made. There are three other buildings worthy of note which are sit-
uated betwsen the west front and Hempstead Harbor. The most southerly of these
is the early cow-barn, now converted into a cottage. This gable-~ended building
has a facade gable on its north front., Its original appearance is shown in a
1919 photograph.

Closer to Hempstead Harbor is a charming board-and-batten cotiage, also
with facade gables and incorporating 2-over-2 windows, which appears to date
from the final quarter of the 19th century. Local tradition suggests it was
built in conjunction with Mr, Hogins' dock, cireca 1895, although it may have
been an earlier building which was remodeled at that time. This cotiage has
been enlarged and modernized by the present owners. Architecturally, the most
consequential of the accessory buildings is the elegant, octogonal, rustiec
gazebo situated on a low bluff overlooking Hempstead Harbor. The floor and
roof have been replaced but the cedar truck-snd-branch structure is typical of
the mid-19th century romantic viewpoint. Similar rustic architectural "follys"
have been illustrated by Ranlett (1849), Downing (1857) and Vaux (1864).

INTERIOR: The exterior of Maykmoll has been described as Jacobean., However,

the interior 1is essentially Italianate with an overlay of some elements of
stylistically earlier Greek Revival detail, The transition from exterior to
interior is accomplished by the retention of the flat Tudor arched firgt storey
door and window surrounds. All the first floor door surrounds include vigorous,
projecting ogee mouldings but are crossetied in the, by then, cld-fashioned
Greek Revival manner, The first floor window surrounds, execept for those in the
rear vestibule and the four bay windows, are crossetted ina similar manner,

The interior first floor dcors all include six panels on both sides. The upper
pair of panels are square, the ceniral long rectangles and the lower short
rectangles. All employ ogee mouldings which projeet beyond the stiles. In keep-
with most other "mid-century" Roslyn houses, the second storey detail is much
simpler and stylistically more retarded. This characteristic did not imply
financial difficulty or meanness but merely suggests that one made the greatest
effort where it would be seen by guests. On this basis, the second storey doors



are four-panelled and use a simple chamfer in place of mouldings. The door
surrounds have square corners but are "stepped" in the Greek Revival manner
and utilize rather unexciting flat Tuscan wmouldings. In contrast with the ele-
gant silverplated Greek Revival door fittings of the first floor, the second
storey doorknobs were all made of simple stoneware (which has been replaced
with modern fittings).

The basement and garret were designed for the use of servants. The door
surrounds are unadorned, but the four panel doors are identical with those of
the second storey. None of the original fireplaces have survived.

FIRST FLOOR: The first floor consists of a wide central hall which includes
the principal stairway and which is terminated at each end by a vestibule
which occuples the first floor area of the two Jacobean porches., There are two
large rooms on each side of this hall; the parlor and dining room on the south
and the library (music room) and drawing room on the north, The latter room is
the largest and includes two entrances toc the central hall, thus creating an
asymetric doorway arrangement. The early parlor was altered extensively in
1919 and will not be described. The original floor tiles have been kept in the
vestibules and central hall but the original wooden flooring has been replaced
in the other rooms.

The first floor ceiling height is twelve feet which is unusual in Roslyn.
All the first storey windows are, or resemble, french windows, as all the east
and west windows opened to the verandahs and the one section of each bay win-
dow which faced the "curve" of each verandah opened out to it, All, then, are
paired and consist of a wooden panel at the bottom surmounted by three levels
of glass above. Each level consists of a wide inner pane and a narrow outer
pane, all separated by delicate wooden muntins.

VESTIBUILES: The front and rear vestibules occupy the first storeys of the Jac—
obean porches. Each includes paired doors in each wall, i.,e., french windows
panelled at their bottoms leading to both verandahs; heavy panelled doors
leading to the outside; and recessed, sliding doors, panelled at their bottoms,
which open to the central hall, The latter include the original glazing which
is three panes in height. The glass is etched and includes an overall pattern
of ground and polished arabesques in the wide inner panes and stylized vines

in the narrow outer panes. (This use of glass to convey a design is related to
the etched glass lampshades of the same period). The exterior front doors are
very thiek, three inches, to accommodate the vigorous moulded flat panels of
both faces. The two exterior rectangular panels include concave curves at their
opposite ends %o permit the insertion of a circular panel between. The inter-
ilor two panels of each door consist of a moulded long rectangle above and
moulded short rectangle below. There is an etched glass over-door window con-
tained within the Tudor arch of the doorway. The exterior doors of the rear
vestibule are identical with the lateral french doors suggesting that the two-
level, west verandah may have continued in front of the Jacobean porch instead
of butting into its side walls., The interior wall of the rear vestibule is re-
cessed slightly into the central hall, possibly to provide more space for the
verandah to cross outside. It has been mentioned above that the door surrounds
of the east vestibule are crossetted while those of the west have simple,square
corners. The tile floors are laid in geomeiric designs suggestive of those
illustrated by Calvert Vaux and other mid-19th century architectural writers.
Each vestibule includes a moulded gesso ceiling cornice in which a lantern
medallion in the design of a laurel wreath has been centered. There are traces
of painted, leafy decoration, in addition, in the ceiling of the rear vestibule.
Originally the front vestibule ceiling must have been decorated the same way.



CENTRAL HATIL: The main features are the curved stairway centered on an oval
skylight in the second storey ceiling; %he dramatic plaster work, which is
unequalled in Roslynm, and the polychrome %tiled floor which continues thru the
entire dimension of the house and which is capped by a vigorous, ogee-moulded
basgeboard,

The stairway employs a heavy moulded railing supported by tapering,turned
and fluted balusters and terminates in a massive fluted newsl. The entire
railing is walnut which has been painted over in recent years. The treads rest
on elegantly shaped, flat, pierced scrolls. The stairway differs from others
in Roslyn in that it is plastered, not panelled, beneath its fascia.

The ceiling is richly trimmed with an elaborate, pierced gessoc cornice
executed in a pattern of repeating arabesques. Near the beginning of the
stairway there is a flat plaster arch which crosses the hallway and rests on
large gesso consoles in the shape of full-sized acanthus leaves which are
executed with the most competent level of techniecal proficiency. Tradition
reports that the hall plaster work, as well as that im the other first floor
rooms, was done by Italian f"stuccotori® who travelled from center to center
in the practice of their craft. Since the pierced arabesques actually are of
sections of cast iron, this tradition appears less valid.

The original tiled floors in the central hall, like those in the vestibule,
or foyers, are laid in geometric and stylized patterns in shades of brown,
rust, blue, gray, beige and whiite. Family tradition suggests they were brought
from Italy by Lieutenant Stuart and this legend may be well founded in fact.
However, Miller & Coates, 279 Pearl Street, New York, in what surely must be
one of the earliest advertisements in color, offer "tiles for floors" in the
same palelte but mostly of simpler patterns in Calvert Vaux! "Villas &
Cottages", which was published by Harpers in 1864. Almost certainly these
tiles which are undecorated are domestic, Those which include designs may have
been imported. Lieutenant Stuart apparently had his own thoughts concerning
floor coverings which he expressed in a letter to his wife in 1855, which sur-
vives in the possession of his grand-daughter, Mrs. Charles Lester Marlait, of
Washington, D,C:

".S.5. Rellef, at sea, 31 Oct
"7,S.5. Relief, at sea, 31 Oct.l855%

"One or itwo suggestions occurred to me which may not be amiss to

mention, In the selection of an o0il cloth for your hall, I would
not pick out one with a small figure, because the hall being a
large one, a small figure would cause it to look low and shabby.
The same holds good in the selection of parlor carpets, partic-
ularly for the lower floor. The oil cloth should be neither too
dark nor too light, and if you can by all means an English one.
The American ones are not worth a cent, and only prove an exp-
enge, as a new one is required every year or go. Ask the man who
puts it down what is the best thing for washing and preserving it.
Do not forget, before putting down your carnets, to wash the
floors well with strong alum water, and for a foot in breadth
sround the room, paint the floor with corrosive of sublimate, and
you will never have a moth in your carpets.

I was thinking, dearest Nelly, this morning of you and recollected
your saying that you fthought that two rooms in the garret would

be enough. The two will be enough for servants sleeping rooms.

But you must have another one, say on the North side for a store-
room, and in it should be a scuttle or put it on the south side



under the scuttle. You cannot that I can see do without it."

DINING ROOM: The dining room occupies the southwest corner of the first floor.
There is no cornice today but probably there was one originally. This would
have certainly been the case if this room was used only for speclal functions
on gstate occasions., The dining room is essentially a large square, but deeply
chamfered corners create the impression of an octagon. The south end is ter-
minated by a deep bay window, one section of which actually is a french win-
dow which opened to the no longer present curve of the west verandah. Each of
the chamfers includes a doorway. The northwest opens to a china closet; the
sonthwest to a dumb-waiter, the southeast to the pantry and the northeast to
the original basement stairway. A pair of french windows, on the west wall,
opened to the verandah originally, and now open to the large, enclosed (1919)
porch. Opposite it, on the east wall, is a large chimney, which does not pro-
ject into the room but into the pantry corridor behind it. Probably there was
a fireplace on this wall., If there was a fireplace, its removal may have
effected sufficient ceiling damage to require removal of the original cornice.

LIBRARY: The original library is a square room which occupies the northeast
corner of the first floor. It is now used as a mugsic room., There are paired
french windows in the east wall opening to the verandah, There is a triple-
hung bay window in the north wall, one section of which is hinged and still
opens to the "curve" of the verandhh which terminates against it, Of the four
original bay window exits this is the only one which still retains all the
elements requisite to its function. The heavy moulded and stepped baseboards
are employed throughout the first floor. The pierced gesso cornice is similar
to that in the central hall, but utilizes a design of foliated vines in place
of arabesques. Actually the cornice in the library, as well as in the drewing
room, has veen restored in part and the original pattern modified. The cornice
is composed of a wooden moulding at the lower edge, which now matches the
ceiling but which originally was finished as black walnut, Into this moulding
‘are inserted iron panels cast in the design of fully round leafy vines. These
iron panels always have been finished to match the ceiling., Above the panels
is a series of plaster steps. This is the part of the cornice which has been
replaced. Originally, it consisted of layers of moulded leaves. This upper
part, between the iron panels and the ceiling, has always been painted to
match the celling. The chimney breast projects into the room and indicates the
position of the original fireplace. This was rebuilt in 1919, at which time
the original mantle was removed. The deeply projecting shelf over the drawing
room doorway is edged with a carved egg-and-dart monlding and rests upon acan-
thus-carved consoles, This architectural element presently is painted into the
~ornice., However, it is a part of the doorway design and should be considered
as such. Actually all of the wooden trim in the library is either walnut or
originally was grained to resemble that wood. A picture of this room swrvives
taken by Edmonston, of Hew York, late in the 19th century. This interesting
document illustrates the decoration and furnishings of the room circa 1890.

In it the door and window surrounds are the natural color of well-waxed black
walnut and the window-hangings, floral carpet, sculpture and original Gothie
Revival book-cases are well demonstrated.

DRAWING ROCM: The drawing room is the largest room in the house. It is rectan—
gular in shape and includes a large triple bay window in ths north wall, This
ig identical in shape to, but larger than, the library bay window and, as in
that case, one of the windows is hinged to permit access o the ne longer
extant wverandah. As in the dining room, a large french window in the west wall
now opens to the 1919 enclosed porch. The door surrounds and heavy moulded and
stepped baseboards are the same as those in the library and like them are



elther walnut or were originally walnut grained. The recessed sliding
glazed doors, which lead %o the library, are etched, ground and polished in
the same manner as the vestibule doors. Two doorways lead to the central
hall. These flank the projecting chimney breast which employs a 20th century
mantle. A late 19th century Edmonston photograph of the drawing room has
survived also. This shows the elaborate ceiling cornice which survives in
part and which is identical to that in the library. The photograph also
shows a more delicate accessory cornice, employing corner blocks, which no
longer survives. The rich, diamond shaped, moulded chandelier medallion
also has failed to survive. However, g duplicate survives in the George W.
Denton house, The picture also shows the original round-arched Italian mar-
ble mantle which is similar to those in the parlors of the Willett Titus
house. The great gilded architectural over-mantle mirror, shown in the
photograph, almost certainly had its counterpart in the library. The pic-
ture also shows the window-hangings, corner pipe organ, and what surely
must have been the world's largest stereopticon viewer. Two pictures
appearing in the photograph are still hanging in this room. Both are charm-
ing views of Hempstead Harbor in the spring, painted by Emma Eilers, of

Sea Cliff, about 1910, Both retain their original gilded art nouveau frames
which may be congidered works of art in their owm right.

SECOND STOREY: The second floor is architecturally less ambitious than the
prineciple floor. The greatest effort was made in the development of areas
which would be seen by guests and little attention given family use rooms.
Since the second storey hall, or at least its central area, could be meen
from below, it was considered part of the stairway design. There is a round
arched statuary niche over the turn of the stairway which employs a gesso
surround which is "hounds tooth" in pattern, possibly in an effort to est-
ablish the Norman character of the arch. The oval skylight is almost Adam—
like in its design and uses a rich border of free-standing gesso acanthus
leaves. The ceiling cornice is not unusual for Roslyn and, as pointed out
above, the four panel doors are not moulded and their surrounds consist of
simple stepped facings and diluted Greek Revival mouldings.

There are two small rooms over the vestibules at the ends of the hall,
The westerly room traditionally is called the "Breakfast Room", Whether used
for this purpose or not, this unornamented room with its outstandingly
beantiful view must have been an extremely pleasant place. Apparently neit-
her of the rooms ever had north windows, probably in an-effort to preserve
heat. The windows are the original j-oVer-4 having thick vertical muntins
to convey the impression of french windows. The same windows are found in
other mid-19th century Roslyn houses but never in locations in which french
windows could not have been used, i.e.,a place outside to step out on,

The second story bedrooms all have been altersd substantially to permit
installation of closets, bathrooms, etc. Since little of their original
appearance survives, they will not be described.

THIRD STOREY: The principal architectural feature of the third floor is the
simple oval balustrade with oval railing and turned balusters, which pro-
tects the skylight., Apart from this, which is set into the hall floor, there
are four servants! rooms, all fully plastered. The most interesting third
storey feature is the atitic, which is not plastered and in which may be
seen the pinned, moriise-and-tennon balloon framing and the brick insula-
tion in the exterior walls. '

BASEMENT: Much of the supporiing structure of the house may be seen in the



bagement, The outer walls are 2ll dressed stone, with quoined brick window
surrounds, some of which have been plastered over. The interior walls all are
brick which also have been plastered, for the most part. Like the first and
second storeys, there is a wide central hall extending the entire dimension
of the house, At its east end it opens to a small room beneath the Jacobean
porch., At the west end it opens to the original lower lawel of the two-level
west verandah, Most of the doors are the same four panel type used in the
second and third storeys.

The basement doorknobs all are agate. The windows in the south and west
walls are of the 6~over~6 type. As on the first and second storeys thers are
egsentially two rooms on either side of the central hall. The original kitehen
is situated beneath the dining room. It retains an embrasure for a coal or
wood burning range as well as the corner cupboard which contained the dumb-
waiter to the dining room. One of the original cupboards has survived. It has
a simple Greek Revival. pediment and its door panels are enclosed in stiles
chamfered in the samemanner as the many four-panel doors throughout the house.
The servants! dining room is a large room beneath the drawing room. It has
been modernized extensively., Its floor is laid up in alternating strips of
light ani dark woods which probably were transferred from the first floor
dining room when the latter was re-floored. There is similar flooring in
"Montrose", near hy, a Federal Style house enlarged by Calvert Vaux in 1869.
The flooring there dates from the Vaux alteration. The term "Servants! Dining
Room" as applied to this room may be a misnomer. It is more likely to have
been the family dining room for everyday use. A number of other basemeni din-
ing rooms survive in Roslyn. The furnace room is entered thru a round-headed
door which distinguishes it from the other basement rooms. Its original
function is unknown., It is chiefly of interest because of its ecarefully laid
brick floor and because its dressed rubble exterior walls and brick interior
walls have not been plastered. The coal bin, under the verandah, may be enter-
ed from this room. This was created in 1919 by excavating beneath a verandah
and lining the created space with brick. The entry to this space originally
was a single cellar window. In the coal bin may be seen the lower courses of
the foundation stones which were left rough for bonding below the grade. The
upper exposed courses were carefully finished.

A stairway from the central hall leads down to the original Mcold" or
"root" cellar, which is now used for the storage of wine, The original brick
ventilation shaft and a chute for vegetables survive,
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